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ROSLYN ARCHITECTURAL HISTORY 

Roslyn is of architectural interest because of the high survival of buildings 
dating from mid-19th century and earlier. A significant group of architecturally 
consequential buildings date from the second half of the 19th century. Apparently 
the earliest known published record identifying locations and owners is the Walling 
Map of 1859 which probably was surveyed a year or two earlier. A large percentage 
of the houses and commercial buildings found on this map still stand. 

Historic knowledge concerning individual houses, originally quite sketchy, has 
been expanding as the result of recent research. Sufficient has been learned to 
accomplish the inclusion of the Main Street Historic District in the National 
Register of Historic Places in 1974, and the East Toll Gate House in 1977. 
Preparation of data to support registration of additional Historic Districts is being 
undertaken. In addition, quite a lot has been learned about individual construction 
detail, largely as a result of exploratory and recording procedures used in the 
preparation of the Tour Guides (TG) as well as from stripping techniques used in the 
examination of the Van Nostrand-Starkins House (TG 1975-1976), the Robeson-
Williams Grist Mill (TG 1976-1977) and the George Allen Tenant House (TG 1978) 
by John Stevens. 

Almost sixty buildings exhibited on Landmark Society Tours since 1961 have 
been examined carefully and much useful architectural information has been 
gained. Some of this study has been conducted under the direction of professional 
architectural historians as Daniel M.C. Hopping and John Stevens. In addition, 
much can be conjectured by evaluating architectural concepts, construction 
techniques, and decorative details of the houses already studied and applying these 
criteria to the examination of other houses. Careful historic investigation of one 
house, as the study into the origins of the Van Nostrand-Starkins house by 
genealogist Rosalie Fellowes Bailey, has revealed data concerning the histories of 
other houses. Careful review of the early newspapers, i.e., The Roslyn Plain Dealer, 
published 1851-52, and the Roslyn Tablet, 1876-1877, has disclosed much detailed 
information concerning individual local buildings. In addition, a letter written to 
Mrs. Eliza Leggett in 1851 by Bishop Benjamin Treadwell Onderdonk, describing 
his boyhood in Roslyn during the late 18th and early 19th centuries, has been most 
useful in identifying structures standing at that time. In a similar manner a letter 
written by Francis Skillman to the Roslyn News (1895) describes the history of 
many houses standing in Roslyn during the period 1829-1879. In general, each 
building or house is exhibited for two consecutive years with the result that 
approximately half the buildings on each tour are being shown for the second time. 
One of the benefits of this system is that data brought to light after the first showing 
may be included in the description of the second showing. 

The preparation of the 1976 Tour Guide produced at least two interesting 
conjectures of major consequence. It now seems obvious that Roslyn, long 
considered unique for its large content of early and mid-19th century houses, 
includes at least four major Federal Houses, i.e., the Anderis Onderdonk House 
(TG 1970-1971) known to have been built between 1794 and 1797; the Federal part 
of the William M. Valentine House (TG 1963), which almost certainly was standing 
in 1801 and possibly even three or four years earlier; the fire-damaged Francis 
Skillman House, now the Blue Spruce Inn, and the Federal part of the Valentine 
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Robbins House (TG 1976) which can at present be dated only architecturally but 
which certainly was built within a few years of the other three. It seems reasonable at 
the time of writing to assume that Onderdonk House was built first, then the 
Robbins House and finally the Valentine House although future investigation may 
alter this tentative sequence. What is more important is that it seems almost certain 
that all three were built by the same carpenter-builder whose identity at this time 
cannot be even conjectured. The gambrel-roofed Francis Skillman House (not 
studied) badly damaged by fire, may be a future member of this group. Measured 
drawings of the Francis Skillman House are being prepared by Alex Herrera 
working under the aegis of the Landmark Society. In addition there may be one or 
two more houses which so far have eluded notice. In addition to the discovery of an 
unknown Federal carpenter-builder of talent we were amazed to identify the 
number of early buildings which included kitchen dependencies. It is now certain 
that a number of local houses at one time had kitchen dependencies and that a 
significant number of these have survived. Most of these appear to date from the 
first half of the 19th century although further study may establish that some are even 
earlier. The practice certainly continued as late as Vaux & Withers' enlargement of 
"Montrose" (TG 1974-1975) in 1869. The Van Nostrand-Starkins House (TG 1976-
1977) and William Hicks' original "Montrose" both had kitchen dependencies 
which no longer survive. The kitchen dependencies of the John Valentine House 
(TG 1976), the John Rogers House (T'G 1976-1977) and of the 1869 alteration of 
"Montrose" all are standing. While the existence of kitchen dependencies in other 
Long Island villages has not been studied, so far as we know it seems obvious that 
the local group was extremely large in comparison to the numbers in other places. 

Apart from the large "summer seats" in Roslyn Harbor, only a few of the early 
Roslyn houses actually were designed by individual architects. Nevertheless, each 
house had an architectural concept which determined its appearance and function. 
The concept was frequently strongly influenced by the various published 
architectural works of the period, as Benjamin, Ranlett, Downing and Vaux, and, in 
other cases, was simply the result of a discussion between the owner and the 
carpenter-builder. Jacob C. Eastman may be the earliest identifiable local 
carpenter-builder. He is described in the article on Henry M.W. Eastman in 
"Portrait and Biographical Records of Queens County, N.Y.," as born in Ne.w 
Hampshire and practicing in Roslyn before the birth of his son, Henry W., in 1826. 
It is possible he was the builder of the group of early Federal houses described 
elsewhere in this article. Thomas Wood is another important early carpenter-
builder. He probably was Roslyn's principal carpenter-builder between 1825-1875. 
An article in the Roslyn News for September 20,1878, describing life in Roslyn fifty 
years earlier, states "Probably no builder erected as many of the existing dwelling 
houses, barns, etc. in this town as Mr. Wood." Thomas Wood is indicated on the 
Walling Map as the then owner of the Wilson Williams House at 150 Main Street 
which he purchased in 1827, according to an interview with his grandson Monroe 
Wood which appeared in the Brooklyn Daily Eagle for Sunday, August 17,1913. In 
all probability he built the later (1827) half of it, as well as several other local houses 
which seem related to it. Later carpenter-builders were John Wood, Thomas' son, 
and Stephen Speedling. Both worked during the second half of the 19th century. 
Thomas Wood's account book for the year 1871 was donated to the Society in 
January 1977. Its analysis may establish Wood's connection with other Roslyn 
buildings. Two houses built by Stephen Speedling are on exhibit in the 1978 tour. 
These are the Presbyterian Parsonage (1887) and the Oscar Seaman House (1901). 
Speedling's carpentry shop still stands at No. 1374, Old Northern Boulevard. 
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Architectural concepts of Roslyn houses were usually quite reactionary as 
might be expected in a small country village. In general the more ambitious the 
house at the time of building, the more likely it was to have been built in a 
contemporary style. Less important houses, in which owners were more likely to be 
interested in shelter than flourishes, frequently reflected the designs of an earlier 
period. Even in the stylish houses, secondary rooms appear retarded stylistically. In 
some houses the upper story trim was added as much as 10 years after the main floor 
trim and obviously appears to be later work. 

Construction techniques are another important device in the dating of homes. 
Workmen trained in a country village were likely to use techniques of their 
apprenticeships. In sufficiently isolated communities, a workman might continue in 
techniques of the early working years of the elderly man who taught him. 
Reactionary techniques in one trade may appear side by side with relatively modern 
techniques in others, depending on the training of the man who did the work. In 
situations of this sort, the date of the house cannot be earlier than the introduction 
of the latest construction technique used, provided it may be accepted that the work 
is part of the original structure. In general, framing of Roslyn houses conforms to 
contemporary standards. 

However, the plastering techniques of clamshells and horsehair continued into 
the late 1800's even though these techniques had been discontinued in cities like 
Boston by 1750. Early masonry, also, was likely to be reactionary, but improved 
markedly after the arrival of Samuel Dugan I, an Irish-trained mason, circa 1855. 
The brickwork in at least one house built in the second quarter of the 19th century 
was laid in Flemish bond, a style which had disappeared elsewhere at least a century 
earlier. It is worthy of comment that prior to about 1860, foundations of Roslyn 
houses were built of large stones, arranged in such a manner that the exposed inside 
surfaces of the cellar were smooth while the outer surfaces, covered by earth below 
grade, were irregular and thereby bonded together by the earth back-fill. After 
about 1835 the exposed parts of foundations, i.e., from grade to sill, were brick. 
From about 1870, the entire foundation walls were brick. The latter practice 
continued until about 1900. 

Decorative details, as hardware, stair railings, mouldings, etc., are also of great 
value in establishing the age of a house. In Roslyn the concept and construction 
details, and even the hardware, may antedate moulding styles by many years. In 
such a case, the date of the house cannot be earlier than the date of earliest 
appearance of the specific moulding style. Mouldings usually were stylish, probably 
because the presence of two lumber yards in the Village made it more convenient for 
carpenters to buy many mouldings ready-made. William Hicks started his sawmill 
in Roslyn Harbor in 1832 and may have operated another mill yard earlier. For the 
same reason mantels and door frames were usually in style and executed with 
contemporary detail. On the other hand, metal hardware frequently was retarded in 
style, as result of availability of out-of-date stock or re-use of earlier materials. "H" 
and "H-L" hinges and oval keyholes were used long after their use had been 
discontinued in metropolitan centers. Prior to about 1825 door locks were imported 
from England. After that date they were of local manufacture, some by A. Searing 
of Jamaica. Willowmere, a mid-18th century house, has locks installed circa 1830 
made by Mackrell & Richardson of New York, and at least two more survive in the 
Wilson Williams house and the John Mott house. 
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The foregoing is only the briefest of resumes. Additional information will be 
given, when feasible, in descriptions of individual houses. In all cases, estimates of 
construction dates have been evaluated on the basis of architectural characteristics 
as described above. In some instances an individual house may have been built 
earlier than the attributed date, but alterations have given it the characteristics of a 
later period. 

As noted above, most of the early Roslyn buildings were designed by local 
carpenter-builders who, in some instances, worked from architectural pattern 
books. By the mid-19th century, the larger, more fashionable houses being built 
along the harbor must have been designed by architects, even though in some 
instances the quality of the building provides the only evidence for an architectural 
attribution. The earliest building designed by a known firm of professional 
architects was Christ Church Chapel (later the first Trinity Church, Roslyn) which 
was designed by McDonald & Clinton in 1862. An earlier suggestion had been made 
that the Roslyn Presbyterian Church be designed by an architect but this proposal 
was not accepted by the congregation. The earliest known published work is 
Frederick Copley's design for the derelict Jerusha Dewey house built in 1862 by 
William Cullen Bryant and published in Woodward's Country Houses (published 
by the authors, George E. and F.W. Woodward, New York, 1865, Pg. 40). Copley 
also published the design for Sycamore Lodge, still standing in Roslyn Harbor (TG 
1961-62), in The Horticulturist, Vol. XX, 1865 Pg. 7 to Pg. 11 and reprinted in 
Woodward's Country Houses for the same year (Design #30, p. 139). Copley did not 
consider himself an architect but signed himself "artist." He is known to have 
painted at least one Roslyn landscape which, hopefully, will one day be identified. 
The earliest major work by a prominent architect is Jacob Wrey Mould's design for 
Thomas Clapham's "Stonehouse," now "Wenlo," in 1868. A contemporary 
newspaper clipping in the possession of the present owner identifies Mould as the 
architect. Plate #61 of Bicknell's "Brick and Wood Architecture" (1875) illustrates a 
house very similar to "Stonehouse" in facade design and floor plan. Bicknell credits 
the design to J. Wrey Mould and identifies the owner as Thomas Clapham of 
Roslyn. Mould designed many churches in New York, including the All Souls' 
Unitarian Church and Parsonage (1853-1855). In 1859 he became Associate 
Architect of the New York City Department of Public Parks and, in 1870-1871, the 
Architect-in-chief. In these capacities he designed most of the buildings and other 
structures in Central Park including the bandstand (1862), the terrace (1858-1864) 
and the casino (1871). (See Van Zanten, David T.; "Jacob Wrey Mould, Echoes of 
Owen Jones and The High Victorian Styles in New York, 1853-1865," Journal of the 
Society of Architectural Historians, Vol. XXVIII, #1, March 1969, pgs. 41-57). 

In 1869 Calvert Vaux, one of the most prominent architects of his day and the 
author of a number of books on architectural subjects, did the design for the 
enlargement of "Clovercroft" (now "Montrose") to the order of Mrs. Parke 
Godwin. The drawings and elevations for the Vaux design survive and bear the 
imprint of Vaux, Withers & Co., 110 Broadway, New York. In 1874 Thomas 
Wisedell, of New York, prepared drawings for the enlargement of "Cedar Mere" for 
William Cullen Bryant. Other buildings in Roslyn Harbor which must represent the 
work of competent professional architects are "Locust Knoll," now "Mayknoll" 
(1854-1855), the Gothic Mill at "Cedar Mere" which, apparently, was not included 
in the Wisedell design and St. Mary's Church (1871-1876). Samuel Adams Warner, 
(1822-1897) (TG 1961-1962) was a New York architect who lived in Roslyn during 
the third quarter of the 19th century. A Swiss Cottage built on his estate circa 1875 
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survives on Railroad Avenue and almost certainly must have been built to Warner's 
design. A letter from Warner's great-grandson Captain Harry W. Baltazzi, USN, 
dated September 7, 1965 (Bryant Library) states "My father told me that his 
grandfather, S.A. Warner, had given land to the Long Island Railroad with the 
provision that the station was to be built upon it." The Railroad Station is very close 
to the site of the former Warner house. Could the station also have been built in 
Warner's design? Warner may have designed some of the Roslyn Harbor houses for 
which architectural attributions have not yet been made. Warner designed major 
buildings in New York. These included the Marble Collegiate Church as well as a 
number of buildings. 13 of these built between 1879 and 1895 survive in the "Soho 
Cast Iron Historic District" of which all but one have cast iron fronts. 

Actually the impact of William Cullen Bryant and his circle must be considered 
in developing the architectural attributions of the great mid-19th century houses in 
Roslyn Harbor. Frederick Law Olmstead, a close friend, is credited with the 
landscape design of "Cedar Mere" and later was the landscape architect of Central 
Park, a project strongly supported by Bryant. Calvert Vaux was closely associated 
with Olmstead and was officially charged, with him, with control of the designs for 
Central Park. Vaux is known to have worked for Mrs. Parke Godwin, a Bryant 
daughter, and probably designed other local buildings including possibly the Gothic 
Mill at "Cedar Mere." These local connections of Olmstead and Vaux may also have 
been responsible for bringing Mould, a Central Park associate, commissions in this 
area. It is certainly to be hoped that, ultimately, the mystery surrounding the origins 
of this important group of buildings will be solved. Near the turn of the century 
architectural attributions may be made with stronger authority. In 1893, or shortly 
there after, Ogden Codman, Jr., designed a house for Lloyd Bryce which later was 
acquired by the late Childs Frick, named "Clayton" and substantially altered. The 
design of the Ellen Ward Memorial Clock Tower (1895) can definitely be credited to 
Lamb & Rich, 265 Broadway, New York. Clarence Mackay's "Harbor Hill" was 
designed by McKim, Meade & White during 1902-1904, most of the design having 
been executed by Stanford White. Most of "Harbor Hill's" important buildings 
have been demolished, but the Stanford White gatehouse survives at the intersection 
of Harbor Hill and Roslyn Road. The same architects did the designs for Trinity 
Church Parish House (1905) and Trinity Church, Roslyn (1906). 

Architects of national reputation continued to work in Roslyn almost until the 
present day. William Bunker Tubby, who was related to a prominent local family, 
did most of his important work in Brooklyn where he designed the Charles Pratt 
House, now known as the Bishop's House, in 1893, Wallabout Market and Tower, 
in 1896, and the library for the Pratt Institute, also in 1896. He also designed a group 
of five Brooklyn Carnegie Libraries in 1904. His activity was not limited to 
Brooklyn, as he was the architect of the Newark City Hall in 1901, the Nassau 
County Court House in 1899 and its addition in 1916. He designed three major 
buildings in Roslyn, all in the Colonial Revival Style. These are the Roslyn 
Presbyterian Church, 1928, the Roslyn National Bank and Trust Co., 1931, and the 
Roslyn High School, 1926. Unfortunately the latter was recently demolished to 
make way for the new high school. The Roslyn Presbyterian Church survives with 
some additions. The Roslyn National Bank and Trust Co. has recently been 
restored, using Tubby's original plans and elevations. The completed restoration 
serves as the office of Paul L. Geiringer Associates and represents an outstandingly 
sympathetic restoration of an early 20th century building. The architect was Guy 
Ladd Frost, AIA. 
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During recent years there has been an increased interest in the Queen Anne 
Revival, an architectural style which developed in the last quarter of the 19th 
century. There are a number of examples in Roslyn, two of which are exhibited on 
the current tour. Carpenter-builder Stephen Speedling was the principal exponent 
of the style locally. The Queen Anne Revival was a mixed style, established by the 
1870's in England, by a group of architects under the influence of William Morris 
Arts and Crafts Movement, and first represented by the architect innovators Phillip 
Webb (Red House, 1859) and Eden Nesfield (Longton Hall, 1860). The style was 
internationally popularized by the work of Norman Shaw (Glen Andred, 1867). 

Most of the Queen Anne style houses were designed for a small, aesthetically 
advanced segment of the upper middle class. Stylistic elements were culled from the 
mid-17th century Dutch style, as embodied in the William and Mary Period, as well 
as from the Queen Anne rose-brick vernacular buildings. Design elements were 
found as well in Gothic, Jacobean and Tudor buildings. It began as an expression of 
revolt against the pretentiousness of the Italianate and Rennaisance Revival and the 
enormous Gothic mansions of the mid-19th century postulating a return to a more 
domestic human scale and purely domestic comforts. The use of native and regional 
materials were, in the beginning, an important element of the philosophy of design. 

In America, under the influence of Norman Shaw and his contemporaries, the 
first house of this type was the Sherman House, at Newport, Rhode Island, built in 
1874 by Henry Hobson Richardson, its interior distinguished by a novel open plan. 
It is usually referred to, in the context of the Newport expanded "cottages," as a 
Shingle Style building, and was widely imitated, with patterned shingles substituted 
for the "Hung-tiles" of its British predecessors. The architectural firm of McKim, 
Meade and White designed Long Island examples at a somewhat later date, often 
incorporating English-Georgian details. 

In conclusion, it should be mentioned that the buildings on exhibit have been 
selected to demonstrate the continuing story of Roslyn architecture, and to indicate 
various interesting inconsistencies of architectural concept, construction methods 
and decorative detail. Many more equally interesting buildings remain—it is hoped 
they will be exhibited on future tours. It should also be mentioned that since 1971, 
the Landmark Society has received several grants from the New York State Council 
on the Arts to defray the publication costs for the annual Tour Guide. In the same 
year, the Society was the recipient of the National Award of Merit of the American 
Association for State and Local History for, among other achievements, the 
accuracy of its research and the quality of its annual Tour Guides. 
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"HILLSIDE" 
The Valentine-Pollitz Farm 

West Side of Main Street between #36 and #60 

This account does not describe a house but itemizes the common history of the 
Leggett and Howard houses, descriptions of which follow. It also provides the 
opportunity to insert the Caleb Valentine House into the historical record. 

The land on which the two Glen Avenue houses stand, high above the rooftops 
of the houses on Main Street, has a long and rich history that relates closely to the 
Grist Mill, the paper mill, and the houses on the west side of Main Street from No. 
110 north to the George Allan house at 36 Main Street. 

According to Francis Skillman, Caleb Valentine built a house on the west side 
of Main Street around 1800-1810. Caleb Valentine, born in 1767, was the brother of 
the William Valentine for whom the William M. Valentine House (Roslyn Village 
Hall) was built around 1800. According to recurring local tradition, mentioned by 
Benjamin Tredwell Onderdonk, Francis Skillman, and the Roslyn News in the 
1880's, Caleb Valentine's house stood below the two houses shown on the tour. It 
burned down in a spectacular blaze early in February 1887. The likelihood is that 
Caleb Valentine's house (which is known to have been three stories high and "forty 
feet square" according to an advertisement in the Roslyn Plaindealer for July 11, 
1851) was a building of comparable quality to the William Valentine house, and it 
may have been one of the group of local early Federal houses (including the William 
M. Valentine house, the Anderis Onderdonk House, the Valentine-Robbins house, 
and possibly the Robbins-Skillman house (Blue Spruce Inn) tentatively attributed 
to a single unidentified builder. 

It is not quite clear how Caleb Valentine assembled his property, though he did 
purchase tracts of land in this vicinity from Hendrick Onderdonk, John M. Smith 
and John H. Williams, in 1801, 1812 and 1815. Francis Skillman says Valentine 
spent around $5000.00 in grading his site—a princely sum which would be worth 
more than ten times as much today. Valentine's purchase from John M. Smith 
included a grist mill—perhaps the Robeson-Williams mill, whose title has a gap 
between 1801 and 1828. However, the mill ledgers from 1803-1832 survive when the 
mill was operated and presumably owned by Hoogland, Coles and Underhill. There 
was another grist mill in the Village, somehere in today's park, which was mentioned 
by Benjamin Trewell Onderdonk in his 1851 letter to Eliza Leggett. This second mill 
may have been the one operated by Caleb Valentine. 

Another local tradition recorded by Francis Skillman is that Caleb Valentine 
built a "tenant house" for his millwright. Skillman notes that the tenant house was 
"now" owned by George Allen, in which case it would probably be the Allen house 
at 36 Main Street, recently damaged by fire and now being restored by Dr. and Mrs. 
Roger G. Gerry. Skillman, whose descriptions of local traditions still remembered 
by Roslynians in the 19th century usually turn out to be true, wrote that John Willis 
later lived in Caleb Valentine's house, which, if true, strengthens the case for its 
having been just south of No. 36 Main Street. The exact location of the Caleb 
Valentine house has not been determined. The Beers-Comstock Atlas of 1873 shows 
a hillside house belonging to O. W. Pollitz between and behind Nos. 36 and 60 Main 
Street. The Walling Map of 1859 indicates it in a slightly different place. There 
exists, today, a stone stairway on the west side of Main Street that leads to a plateau 
supported by a stone retaining wall about 150 feet long. This is apparently the site of 
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the house shown as O.W. Pollitz on the 1873 Atlas; and it may well be the site of the 
Caleb Valentine house. 

Benjamin Allen was the next known owner of the Caleb Valentine property on 
Main Street. Tantalizingly, neither Allen's deed of purchase for this site, nor for the 
Robes on-Williams grist mill, which he owned from an unknown date after 1801 
through 1828, has been discovered. It is just possible that the deeds are one and the 
same, and that Caleb Valentine did in fact own the Robeson-Williams grist mill for a 
time. 

At any rate, on November 15, 1828, Allen sold half-interest in the grist mill, 
together with the Caleb Valentine house and lands, to John Willis (Queens Co., 
Liber X of Deeds, pgs. 425 and 428), who was shortly to become the developer of 
Main Street's late-Federal period west side. 

In 1835 Willis, who lived in the Caleb Valentine house, began to sell off Main 
Street building lots south of his dwelling house to James Smith, Epenetus Oakley, 
John Mott, Moses Rogers and probably others. In 1839 he sold the Caleb Valentine 
house to John Sampson (Queens Co., Liber ZZ of Deeds, pg. 356, 5/1/1839). 

Augustus William Leggett*—William Cullen Bryant's associate on the 
Evening Post, co-founder of the Roslyn Plaindealer, and Eliza Leggett's husband— 
purchased the Valentine house from Sampson in 1841 (Queens Co., Liber 98 of 
Deeds, pg. 378) and it presumably was his residence until he sold it to Sherman 
Stevens of Pontiac, Michigan, in 1852 (Queens Co., Liber 98 of Deeds, pg. 378, 
5/111852). Leggett's name for the house was "Hillside". The Leggetts had moved to 
Michigan after the sale of the Plaindealer in 1852. An advertisement in the 
Plaindealer July 11,1851, mentions the existence of "two good tenant houses" on the 
"Hillside" property. Presumably one of them is the house at 25 Glen Avenue. 

Four years later Stevens sold his land to Mary Margaret Pollitz, wife of Otto 
William Pollitz, of Brooklyn (Queens Co., Liber 156 of Deeds, pg. 72,5/1 /1856). A 
few months later Mrs. Pollitz added an adjacent tract purchased from Henry 
Western Eastman (Queens Co., Liber 156 of Deeds, pg. 70, 11/3/1856) and the 
"farm" thus assembled was 70 acres of land that ran behind Main Street. The tract 
had a frontage of about 120 feet on Main Street in front of the Caleb Valentine 
House, but the lane now named Glen Avenue afforded the house an approach that 
could be used by horses and wheeled traffic. 

John Codman Pollitz, a member of the family, was active in fund raising for the 
original Trinity Episcopal Church (for which a cornerstone had been laid in 1835 
but which remained unbuilt until 1862). Pollitz, who enlisted in the Union Army just 
before the Civil War, presented his accumulated Army pay to Trinity's congregation 
as a contribution for the purchase of a bell for the new church. Ironically, Pollitz 
died at New Bern, North Carolina before the end of the war and according to 
tradition his funeral was the first occasion on which the bell was rung (TG 1969-
1970). 

The house at 25 Glen Avenue, whose architectural characteristics are described 
below, was probably built during the time that Augustus W. Leggett owned the 

FOOTNOTE: Augustus William Leggett probably was the individual who named Roslyn in 1844. It has long been known that a 
committee which included William Cullen Bryant, Parke Goodwin, Augustus William Leggett and others met to select a new name 
for the Village of Hempstead Harbor. According to a letter to the Roslyn News by M. A. Leggett, Augustus William Leggett's son, 
dated March 1, 1920, this meeting was held at his father's house and he, as a small boy, was present. He specifically states that it was 
"Augustus William Leggett who suggested the name." I know of no other account in the many descriptions of this renaming 
procedure in which the suggestion of the name "Roslyn" is attributed to a single individual. (RGG) 
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property and lived in the Caleb Valentine house. The Pollitz family also lived long in 
Caleb Valentine's house—were, in fact, probably the last owner residents it had. 
Though they sold their farm in 1882, it had so long been known as "the Pollitz place" 
that even today a few people still use that name for the area. 

Mary M. and Otto W. Pollitz sold the entire 70 acre farm to Colonel Aaron A. 
DeGrauw of Jamaica in 1882 (Queens Co., Liber 597 of Deeds, pg. 234). Two 
newspaper notices of DeGrauw's purchase add that there were at the time "large 
buildings" standing on it, and that DeGrauw had immediately proceeded to have a 
New York landscape gardener lay out the entire farm to include a site for a public 
park, and lots for "several handsome cottages" which, were to be built "in the near 
future," (Roslyn News, 7/15 /1882). The Thomas P. Howard house may have been 
one of them. If so, it was the only one to be built. 

As early as 1886 social notices appear in the Roslyn News announcing the 
arrival of tenants who rented apartments in the Caleb Valentine house which 
continued to be called "the Pollitz place." Among the tenants were a Mr. C.C. Little, 
and a Mrs. J.B. Robedee. 

Early in February 1887, the Roslyn News recorded the destruction by fire of the 
old house (2/5/1887). According to the paper, the blaze began in the third floor 
apartment occupied by Mrs. Robedee. Firemen from the Rescue Hook and Ladder 
Co. No. 1, then located nearby, saw at once that the Pollitz house was beyond 
saving, and concentrated their efforts on adjacent Main Street buildings, all of 
which survived. 

In the spring of 1889 the Roslyn Heights Land and Improvement Company 
published a real estate map, drawn by surveyor William Hawxhurst, showing a 
proposed layout which included not only the neighborhood bisected by Warner 
Avenue, Garden and Willow Streets today; but Glen Avenue intersected by a 
network of little curving lanes with building lots laid out upon them that got no 
further than the mapping—with one exception. (A copy of this map is in the Local 
History Collection of the Bryant Library). 

In August 1889, the Roslyn Heights Company sold an acre-and-a-half parcel to 
Thomas P. Howard of Roslyn, (Queens Co., Liber 791 of Deeds, pg. 114, 
8/30/1889). The cottage at 25 Glen Avenue (Pollitz I House) was standing when 
Howard bought this land; and it is most likely that Howard built the taller, newer 
house at No. 30 Glen Avenue shortly after he bought the parcel. 

During the 1890's Howard's acre and a half was purchased by Lewis H. West, 
and by 1906 West advertised it, with two dwellings and "excellent building sites," for 
sale (Roslyn News 3/5/1906). He did not sell it at that time though and the dwellings 
were apparently rented separately. An advertisement clipped from a newspaper of 
1908 or 1909 mentions the tenancy there of Dr. William Miles, and of Mr. and Mrs. 
Henry H. Wikel. Mrs. Wikel, under the name of Anna Hamlin Weikel, was the 
author of a series of novels for girls called the "Betty Baird books," published by the 
Boston firm of Little, Brown & Co. 

In 1913 Lewis West died intestate, and the property passed to his widow Eliza 
K. West (Nassau Co., Liber 354 of Deeds, pg. 1, 10/2/1913). She sold it in 1920 to 
William M. and Etta A. McGee (Nassau Co., Liber 593 of Deeds, pg. 250, 
4/30/1920), who sold it two years later to John and Helga Anderson (Nassau Co., 
Liber 732 of Deeds, pg. 246, 8/1/1922). 
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A. W. Leggett Tenant House 
(1840-1850) as it appeared circa 1880 
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AUGUSTUS WILLIAM LEGGETT TENANT HOUSE 
25 Glen Avenue 

Residence of Mr. and Mrs. Walter F. Ogle 

This house was built before 1851 as a small cottage, and called a tenant house 
by Augustus William Leggett, who advertised his estate, "Hillside," for sale in July 
of 1851. At that time Hillside's main house was the Caleb Valentine house, which 
burned down in 1887. 

The Leggett cottage and the Howard house were in common ownership until 
1942, when John and Hela Anderson sold this building to Albert and Mary 
Pagnotta (Nassau Co., Liber 2519 of Deeds, pg. 168, 1/7/1942). From the 
Pagnottas it passed in 1956 to Mr. and Mrs. Walter Ogle, its present owners (Nassau 
Co., Liber 6084 of Deeds, pg. 427, 9/6/1956). 

The house is superbly sited at the south end of Glen Avenue on a hilltop 
overlooking the Village and the entire Hempstead Harbor. Actually one has the 
feeling that time has been forgotten here and that few changes have taken place 
during the past century. 

Actually, the architectural history of the Leggett Tenant House is extremely 
difficult to evaluate. The entire interior is covered with 20th century sheathing and 
the tiny attic is not accessible. In addition, the exterior has been extensively, perhaps 
entirely, resheathed. However, with all the many changes it is a delightful house and 
well worth the climb up the hillside to visit. 

At first glance the house is a one and a half story gable-ended building with a 
ridge that extends from north to south. It is four bays wide and one bay deep and is 
sheathed with novelty siding. There is a 2/ 2 roundheaded window in the north gable 
field and a pair of interesting looking gable-ended dormer windows with round-
headed 6/6 sash in the east slope of the steeply pitched (90-100°) roof which has 
overhanging eaves with the rafter ends exposed under the east and west slopes. 
There is an exterior brick chimney with a decorative cap, obviously of late 19th 
century work, which crosses the ridge of the south gable field. This appears to be 
original construction as a small eccentric gable window is located to the east of the 
chimney. There is a large shed-roofed lean-to connected to the south end of the 
house. A smaller shed-roofed addition is attached to this which appears to date from 
the mid-20th century, as does the small west addition near the back door. 

To the aforementioned architectural characteristics simple exterior trim has 
been applied around the outer faces of the door and window openings. There also 
are undecorated cornerboads approximately 3" in width. There is no water table 
although there may have been at one time. Part of the foundation viewed from the 
exterior is brick but most is concrete block dating from the mid-20th century. There 
is a simple 3-light cellar window in the east front and a similar 3-light "eyebrow" 
window, partially concealed by a modern exterior brick chimney beneath the roof 
overhang of the west wall. There is a small shed-roofed (east) porch, the roof of 
which is supported by three turned columns of the late 19th century. 

When one looks closely, however, it is apparent that, while the sash of the two 
small ground windows north of the east (front) doorway are of the 6/6 type, the 
much larger window south of the doorway has 2/2 sash. There is a similar 2/2 
window in the east wall of the south lean-to. More difficult to find are the remains of 
the south cornerboard in the west wall now partially buried by the small mid-20th 
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century west wing. These clues suggest that the original house was very small; 
actually 15 feet 4 inches from north to south and 15 feet 7 inches from east to west. 
The 6/6 windows obviously date from the original house and the 2/2 from a later 
alteration. Since the novelty siding is continuous across the east front this must have 
been applied since the house was enlarged. The missing water table suggests 
resheathing not only of the east front but also of the remaining exterior walls. Since 
the round-headed east dormer windows are sited in both the old and new parts of the 
east roof slope they could not date from the original house. Their "Colonial 
Revival" flavor also rules out their dating from the building of the south addition so 
they must represent an early 20th century alteration. 

Examination of the cellar substantiates these findings. An early cellar bulkhead 
survives in the modern (most southern) of the two lean-tos. The west wall of the 
bulkhead is of rubble construction and is a continuation of the west cellar wall. 
However, the foundation stones of this fully excavated part of the cellar are very 
small and cemented together. This construction technique actually resembles a large 
"aggregate" type of construction rather than the true rubble of the mid-19th century. 
The sawn floor joists apparent in this part of the cellar extend from east to west, are 
1 % inches by 7% inches in cross section and are set on 18^ inch centers. The flooring 
above is modern. This fully excavated portion of the cellar occupies the entire area 
beneath the south end of the gable-ended house including the front doorway site and 
the entire large south lean-to, all constructed as a single unit. The area north of the 
cellar foundation is not excavated and only a shallow crawl space survives. The east, 
north and west walls of this foundation are of characteristically mid-19th century 
construction, i.e., relatively large stones which have been carefully fitted utilizing a 
minimum of mortar. The rubble originally extended up to the grade only and the 
area between the grade and the sills was brick filled. Some of this brickwork 
apparently deteriorated and was replaced by concrete blocks set atop the original 
rubble. The entire south wall of this foundation is now missing and not even the 
south sill remains. Since the l3A inch by 7% inch sawn floor joists set on 18!^ inch 
centers extend from east to west it was possible to remove the south sill and the 
exterior wall above. The flooring above dates from the mid-20th century. Careful 
examination of the crawl space and all three surviving early foundation walls fails to 
disclose the foundation of the chimney or of a hearth so these structures must have 
been located in the now missing south wall. 

These findings confirm those identified above. The original house which 
probably dated from the second quarter of the 19th century was very small, i.e., 15 
feet 4 inches by 15 feet 7 inches. It falls squarely within the A.W. Leggett period of 
ownership (1841-1852). It had main storey windows of the 6/6 type and apparently 
was two bays wide by one bay deep. The chimney probably was set inside the south 
exterior wall. The location of the original doorway is unknown as is the location of 
the original stairway which probably was little more than a ladder wrapped around 
the chimney. Presumably there were 3-light "eyebrow" windows in the east and west 
fronts, one of which has survived. The round-headed window opening in the north 
gable field probably dates from the original house although the sash has been 
changed. Originally there probably was a duplicate in the south gable field. In many 
ways this small "copyhold" resembles the even smaller Captain Jacob Kirby Cottage 
(TG 1974-75) which was only 14% feet square. With its 6/6 principal sash and 
evidence of "eyebrow" windows the early part of the Leggett house probably is the 
earlier of the two and most likely dates from the 1840's. 
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This small house was almost certainly one of the two Augustus William Leggett 
tenant houses mentioned in the Roslyn Plaindealer advertisement for July 11, 1851 
(Vol. 2, #1) in which Mr. Leggett offers the principal house "Hillside," and land for 
sale. The surviving small tenant house probably was built during Mr. Leggett's 
ownership. 

Probably about 25 or 30 years after the original "copyhold" house was built it 
was enlarged by two bays (the present front doorway and window south of it) and 
the roof extended southward continuing the original ridge. In addition a large shed-
roofed wing was constructed in the south end of the new extension. This work 
probably was completed during the final quarter of the 19th century. It may 
represent the work of Thomas P. Howard, who bought it during the right period 
(1889) and built the house next door which utilizes similar interior trim. All the 
original windows in the late 19th century addition are of the 2 / 2 type including those 
in the shed-roofed wing. A new brick chimney with a cap of the period was 
constructed outside the new south wall but, obviously, inside the wing. To get 
daylight into the upper floor of the new addition a small window was inserted in the 
south gable field east of the chimney. This late 19th century addition with its shed-
roofed wing more than doubled the floor area of the original "copyhold" house. 

There is little to write about the interior of the house because of the many 20th 
century changes. However, all the door and window surrounds in the late 19th 
century addition and wing are faced with the same characteristic late 19th century 
mouldings having rondel corner blocks. The trim in the main living room, the 
principal interior space of the early "copyhold" house, dates from the early 20th 
century. Oddly enough, the bedroom over it is trimmed with moulding similar to 
that used in the late 19th century part of the house. This has rondel type corner 
blocks but otherwise is not identical to the trim of the late 19th century employed 
elsewhere. Probably it is later in date than the addition and wing trim. Incidentally, 
the knee walls in the upper storey are shallower than in the Captain Jacob Kirby 
Cottage and the rooms created are less commodious even though the floor area is 
greater. The two attractive round-headed dormer windows are a 20th century effort 
to admit more light into these rooms and create a feeling of greater space. Originally, 
of course, there were eyebrow windows in the simple loft which admitted light but 
which because of the shallow knee walls, may have rested on the flooring. Most of 
the baseboards throughout the house have been replaced with heating units. 
However, those which survived are untrimmed pine boards 6 inches in height. 
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Thomas P. Howard House 
circa 1889 
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THOMAS P. HOWARD HOUSE 
30 Glen Avenue 

Residence of Mr. and Mrs. Paul Emmanuel 

This simplified Queen Anne Revival (see Introduction) house is believed to 
have been built by Thomas P. Howard shortly after he purchased an acre-and-a-half 
parcel from the Roslyn Heights Land and Improvement Company in August, 1889, 
(Queens Co., Liber 791 of Deeds, pg. 114, 8/30/1889). The parcel included the 
Leggett cottage (25 Glen Avenue) which, at that time, was a much smaller house 
than it is today. Perhaps Howard lived there while his new house was under 
construction. 

The Howard house and the Leggett cottage continued under common 
ownership until 1942. John and Helga Anderson, who had purchased both houses in 
1922, sold the Leggett cottage 20 years later, keeping the Howard house for 
themselves until 1956. It was then bought by Alfred B. and Jeanne Edwards (Nassau 
Co., Liber 6107 of Deeds, pg. 86, 10/9/1956). In 1972 it was inherited by Alberta E. 
Parker (Nassau Co., Liber 8457 of Deeds, pg. 9) and in 1976 the house was acquired 
by Mr. and Mrs. Paul Emmanuel (Nassau Co., Liber 8918 of Deeds, pg. 50, 
4/21/1976) after having been owned for a short period (8/21/75 to 4/21/76) as part 
of a larger holding, by Floyd Lyon and Roger Gerry. 

The Thomas P. Howard house is a 2'/2 storey clapboarded house on a high 
brick foundation, the ridge of which extends from north to south. It is located near 
the top of a steep hillside overlooking Roslyn and is so sited that the rear (west) 
section of the first floor is below grade while the front (east) rooms are entirely above 
the grade. It probably was built by Thomas P. Howard in 1889 after he purchased 
the property. There is a facade gable which faces the east and a gable-ended ell which 
extends to the west. The house is three bays wide and essentially one bay in depth. It 
has a two-storey porch on the principle (east) front. The Howard house apparently 
was built in 1889 and has survived in a very largely unaltered state. A previous owner 
used the original kitchen as a furnace room when central heating was first installed. 
A small one-storey second storey (on grade) addition was constructed in the angle 
formed by the west front of the house and the west wing by Alfred Edwards about 
1960. Apart from these and a few very minor changes in the floor plan over the years 
the house has survived intact and still retains most of its original siding, trim and 
flooring although considerable framing deterioration had occurred which has been 
corrected by the present owners. 

EXTERIOR: The entire first floor, only part of which is above grade, is constructed 
of brick laid in American bond. The first storey windows are of the 2/2 type and 
conform to those of the rest of the house except for the double windows in the facade 
gable which are 1 /1. There are brick arches set over the first floor window openings. 
All of the doors, interior and exterior, are the original and are of the four-panel, 
ogee-moulded type. The second storey front door has been modified and some of the 
panels replaced with glass. The first floor front door was glazed in its upper part 
originally. When the house was acquired by the present owners the first floor door 
opened outward and was hung on blacksmith-made strap hinges. These have been 
placed on a contemporary storm door and the panelled door rehung to open inward. 
Both the front (east) doorways open to a two-storey shed-roofed porch which is 
supported by square piers below and turned columns above. The porch had 
deteriorated badly and has been completely rebuilt, slightly deeper than the original, 
using the original porch columns and railing. Originally, as today, the upper porch 
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could be entered only from the house. However, for many years there was an 
exterior stairway at the north end of the porch which provided access to the upper 
level from the ground. This was removed by the present owners. Originally, both 
levels of the porch ceiling were enclosed with narrow strip wainscot. It is the 
intention of the present owners to replace this. 

The central brick chimney has a characteristic cap of the period. This had 
deteriorated badly and has been restored by the present owners. The west exterior 
chimney was constructed in 1976. The second storey is clapboarded on all four walls 
up to the gable fields. The west wall is partially sheathed with novelty siding which 
may have originally sheathed the entire wall. The clapboards are trimmed with 
undecorated corner boards and a plain water table. Above the second storey all the 
gable fields are sheathed with chamfered butt wood shingles to simulate hung tiles in 
the so-called Queen Anne Revival Style. These are capped by an overhang, the 
soffits of which are sheathed with strip wainscotting. This roof had deteriorated 
badly and much of the overhang was missing and many of the rafters badly rotted 
when the present owners purchased the house in April 1976. All this damage has 
been painstakingly and accurately restored. The four-panel ogee moulded door 
which provides access to the second storey level in the north wall of the ell is the only 
outside door which retains all its wooden panels. The house apparently never had 
shutters. 

INTERIOR: Originally the entire house had virtually the same floor plan on each of 
the three floors, i.e., a narrow central hallway almost entirely filled with a boxed-in 
stairway and a landing at each level; a large chamber north and south of the 
stairway, each of which was entered by a doorway from a landing, and an additional 
small chamber on each floor of the west ell. Most of this original floor plan has 
survived although there has been an addition at the second storey level and some of 
the third floor spaces have been slightly modified. 

The interior trim is quite elaborate but characteristic of the period. All the 
unstepped baseboards have survived. These are capped with a modified ogee 
moulding. All the door and window surrounds are trimmed with the same moulded 
facings which are capped in their upper corners by turned rondels. All the door 
facings are based upon simple plinths, the height of the unmoulded part of the 
baseboards. The windows in the principal rooms all are panelled beneath utilizing 
quarter round mouldings around the panels. In secondary areas there is a strip of 
moulded window facing set horizontally beneath the window sills. Most of the 
original decorated cast iron window latches have survived and replacements are 
being collected to replace those which have been lost. Except for the first storey all 
the original five inch yellow pine flooring has survived. The original black porcelain 
door knobs have survived in large part. Most of the decorated embossed copper 
backplates have survived in their original locations. 

DINING ROOM: This room probably was the original kitchen and had been 
converted to a furnace room by a former owner. The present owners excavated a 
new space for the furnace by increasing the area beneath the west ell. Since the 
former kitchen was badly deteriorated as the result of rot and oil spills the only 
salvagable architectural characteristics are the deep window reveals. The chimney 
breast was widened in 1976 to accommodate the oak "Colonial Revival" mantel and 
over-mantel (ca. 1890) donated by the Roslyn Preservation Corporation. Oak 
panelling of the same source and date as the mantel also was made available by 
Roslyn Preservation and may be installed during the current year. A brick-lined fire 
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box has been created for use with this Colonial Revival mantel even though no 
"open" fireplaces existed in the original house. The mantel, over-mantel and 
panelling all were found stored in the Wilson Williams house when the latter was 
purchased by the Roslyn Preservation Corporation. Presumably they descended in 
the Eastman family and may have come from the house of the late George Eastman 
in Garden City. The pine flooring in the dining room was installed in 1976. 

KITCHEN: The kitchen is located across the hall from the dining room. This room 
had been divided into two small rooms by a previous owner. These later additions 
were removed in 1976 and, again, the chimney breast widened to create an open 
fireplace. In this case the very simple pine Tuscan moulded mantel (circa 1850) was 
obtained from the Landmark Society's stockpile. It originally came from 
the Golden Farm in Southold, now demolished. 

LIBRARY: This room, on the north side of the stairway on the second storey, was 
the original living room. The pine mantel has fluted colonettes which support 
consoles upon which the moulded edge, square cornered mantel shelf rests. There 
are meandering designs in the Eastlake style carved in the mantelbreast. This mantel 
is original to the house. However, it never had a hearth and actually did not 
surround a fireplace. Originally a small cast iron coal stove stood in front of it. The 
present owners have replaced it with a reproduction wood-burning stove. The 
original fireplace cupboard survives next to the mantel. The entrance to the upper 
porch is located between the library and the living room. 

LIVING ROOM:This room is located on the south side of the stairway on the 
second floor. It retains its original chimney contour which projects into the room 
but which has not been fitted with a mantel. A free standing coal stove originally 
stood in front of the chimney. Most likely this room was the original master 
bedroom. At the west end of the original room the ceiling has been dropped to 
permit the insertion of a steel I-beam which extends north and south at the site of the 
original exterior wall of the house. The area to the west which has a lowered ceiling is 
the interior of a small wing added during the mid-20th century by Alfred Edwards. 
The present owners installed the I-beam and removed the wall to provide for a 
continuous large room. 

SECOND STOREY WING CHAMBER: Originally this room occupied the entire 
floor area of the ell. Its original purpose is not known but it was, for a time, used as a 
kitchen when the house was divided into two apartments. It is the only second storey 
room which is not panelled beneath the windows. It retains all its original trim and 
was divided into an entrance hall and powder room-to-be in 1976. These changes 
have required the fabrication of matching facings and mouldings all of which were 
specially made. 

THIRD STOREY: All the original baseboards, flooring and four-panel ogee 
moulded doors have survived. The windows on this level are not panelled beneath 
the sash but are trimmed by a matching facing strip set horizontally beneath the 
window sills. 

NORTH CHAMBER: The north chamber, now the master bedroom, was the most 
damaged room in the house when the present owners acquired it in April 1976. 
Much of the major roof framing had rotted and collapsed as the result of a leaky 
roof valley. This damage was repaired in 1976. Originally this room was rectangular 
in floor plan. During 1976, the small hallway at the base of the enclosed attic 
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stairway was opened at its north end and closed at its south to bring the paired 
windows in the facade gable field into the master bedroom. 

ATTIC STAIRWAY: The attic stairway is boxed in in the same manner as the two 
lower stairways. However, there is no decorative stringer running along the walls. In 
this case there is a triangular wooden block filling the wall angle of eachtread-riser-
j oining. The north and south chimneys form a corbelled arch over the attic stairway 
to become a single central chimney. This architectural treat is unique in Roslyn. 
Small north, south and west attics, each with a tiny window in its gable field, maybe 
seen beyond the chimney arch. 

THE SOUTHWEST CHAMBER The southwest chamber is smaller in size today 
than it was originally, when it was even larger than the present master bedroom. As 
mentioned above, the small hallway at the base of the attic stairway originally was 
included in this room. In addition, the bath beyond it probably was part of this 
chamber originally. Incidentally, the window facings in the bath are identical to 
those in the rest of the house. However, this is a 20th century modification and the 
facings probably were taken from elsewhere. 

WEST WING CHAMBER: There is a small bedroom in the west wing at the third 
storey level. This served as a kitchen during the time the house was divided into two 
apartments. It has been restored to its original function by the present owners and 
retains all its original architectural characteristics except for the closet which was. 
added in 1976. 

STABLE: The stable was built in 1977-78 on the foundation of the early carriage 
house. Little of the original building remained except for a fragment of early rubble 
wall to which later brick and concrete block had been added. A ruinous wooden 
shed dating from the period of the concrete blocks also survived. There is no other 
known record of the appearance of the original carriage shed. The present stable was 
freely derived from the Jerusha Dewey stable (TG 1978). It is three bays wide, 
clapboarded, has 2/2 fenestration and east and west facade gables. 

The question may be raised as to why the owners did not build a frankly 
contemporary garage since so little remained of the original stable structure. The 
owners not only required garage space but also space for a workroom and for 
storage. They also wished to build an accessory building which would relate well to 
the original house. It is obvious they have more than satisfied their own 
requirements. 

EPILOGUE 

Sharon and Paul Emmanuel have owned the Thomas P. Howard house since 
April 1976. When they bought the house it was a rotted derelict with a collapsed roof 
which had not been lived in for a dozen years or more. Since their purchase the 
decayed framing has been repaired, the roof and two storey porch reconstructed and 
the entire interior of the house restored with a remarkably high level of accuracy. 
The only liberty they have taken was to widen the porch by two feet. One or two 
minor partitions have been relocated and the interior of the small wing, added by 
Alfred Edwards about 1960, has been included in the living room. The decayed 
plaster throughout the house has been replaced with sheetrock. The small cellar 
under the west wing has been dug out and additional cellar area excavated under 
Mr. Edward's small wing to provide an area into which the heating equipment could 
be relocated from the original kitchen. A new exterior chimney has been constructed 
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